

PSYCHIATRIC COMORBIDITY IN FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY

Tija Žarković Palijan¹, Lana Mužinić² & Sanja Radeljak¹

¹Department of Forensic Psychiatry, Neuropsychiatric hospital „Dr Ivan Barbot“, Popovača, Croatia

²Department of Forensic Psychiatry, Psychiatric Hospital Vrapče, Zagreb, Croatia

SUMMARY

For the past several years a numerous studies in the field of forensic psychiatry confirmed a close relationship between violent offenders and comorbid substance abuse. The comorbid substance abuse in violent offenders was usually unrecognized and misdiagnosed. Furthermore, comorbidity in forensic psychiatry describes the co-occurrence of two or more conditions or psychiatric disorder known in the literature as dual diagnosis and defined by World Health Organization (WHO). In fact, many violent offenders have multiple psychiatric diagnoses. Recent studies have confirmed causal relationship between major psychiatric disorders and concomitant substance abuse (comorbidity) in 50-80% of forensic cases. In general, there is a high level of psychiatric comorbidity in forensic patients with prevalence of personality disorders (50-90%), mood disorders (20-60%) and psychotic disorders (15-20%) coupled with substance abuse disorders. Moreover, the high prevalence of psychiatric comorbidities could be found in mentally retarded individuals, as well as, in epileptic patients. Drugs and alcohol abuse can produce serious psychotoxic effects that may lead to extreme violent behavior and consequently to serious criminal offence such as physical assault, rape, armed robbery, attempted murder and homicide, all due to an altered brain function and generating psychotic-like symptoms. Studies have confirmed a significant statistical relevance in causal relationship between substance abuse and violent offences. In terms of forensic psychiatry, the comorbidity strongly contributes in the process of establishing psychiatric diagnosis of diminished mental capacity or insanity at the time of the offence in the course of clinical assessment and evaluation of violent offenders. Today, the primary focus of forensic psychiatry treatment services (in-patient or community) is management of the violent offenders with psychiatric comorbidity which requires a multilevel, evidence based approach to the patient. Forensic treatment service effectiveness appears to be associated with individual case management and approach including psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy and occupational therapy in order to achieve optimal rehabilitation, prevention of recidivism and stability in social functioning of the patient in the community.

Key words: forensic psychiatry – comorbidity - substance abuse – violence - criminal offence

* * * * *

INTRODUCTION

In the recent years, a numerous studies in the field of forensic psychiatry have confirmed a close causal relationship between violent offenders, unrecognized psychiatric disorders and comorbid substance abuse (Fortuna 2009, Davies 2009, Curran et al. 2008, Klötz et al. 2007, Hatters-Friedman et al. 2005, Snowden 2001, McKenna & Jasper 1999, Drake et al. 1998). Comorbidity in forensic psychiatry describes the co-occurrence of two or more conditions or psychiatric disorders

known as dual diagnosis and defined by World Health Organization (WHO 1995, www.who.int). Recent studies have confirmed causal relationship between multiple psychiatric disorders and concomitant substance abuse (comorbidity) in 50-80% of cases (EMCDDA 2008, Brady & Sinha 2005). In fact, the majority of violent offenders have multiple psychiatric diagnoses. Numerous studies have also confirmed causal relationship between major psychiatric disorders and concomitant substance abuse (comorbidity) in 50-80% of cases. A high level of psychiatric comorbidity in

terms of personality disorders (50-90%), mood disorders (20-60%) and psychotic disorders (15-20%) are associated with substance abuse disorder (Rueve & Welton 2008, Marshall & Farell 2007, Kertesz et al. 2006). In general, drugs and alcohol abuse can produce psychotoxic effects that may lead to extreme violent behavior and criminal offence (physical assault, rape, armed robbery, attempted murder, homicide) due to psychotic-like symptoms and caused by acute intoxication and altered brain function. It should be pointed out that there is a significant statistical relevance in causal relationship between substance abuse and violent offences. In the past few years a series of epidemiological studies have quantified ratio between increased risk of criminal offending, mental disorders and substance abuse (Flanagan & Fischer 2008, Fazel & Grann 2006, Bennet et al. 2004, Boles & Miotto 2003). The estimated percentage of substance abuse among psychiatric patients was 44% although the estimated prevalence of comorbidity tends to be much higher as the majority of psychiatric patients are usually either unrecognized or misdiagnosed (EMCDDA 2008). The prevalence of substance abuse, mainly illegal drug abuse or misuse of prescription drugs and alcohol abuse, among diagnosed psychiatric patients is 85% showing a high level of comorbidity (Davies 2009, Curran et al. 2008, EMCDDA 2008). Those individuals are often showing high risk behavior and are prone to self-medication by using either drugs (illegal or prescribed drugs) or alcohol or combination of both. For the last few decades forensic psychiatry is mainly concerned and focused on violent offenders with history of psychiatric disorder, usually psychotic or personality disorder. The importance of dual diagnosis and/or comorbidity for forensic psychiatrist would be presented in "typical" forensic case - a violent offender, previously diagnosed with schizophrenia or an offender with premorbid dissocial personality who had committed a violent crime (Snowden 2001). In fact, many violent offenders usually have history of multiple psychiatric diagnoses which is very important in the course of clinical forensic evaluation and violence risk assessment according to HCR-20 (Webster et al. 1997). It has been confirmed previously that positive psychiatric history greatly contributes to increased risk of concomitant substance abuse related disorders (Davies 2009, Fortuna 2009, Fountoulakis 2008).

Considering all the facts, a greater understanding and knowledge in the field of neuroscience and basic pharmacological effects and mechanisms of alcohol and drug action (psychopharmacology) should be fundamental for forensic psychiatrist. Drugs and alcohol can produce an acute psychotoxic effect that may lead to violence or as a result of long term abuse, withdrawal and dependence. Generally speaking, it has been confirmed in numerous epidemiological studies that alcohol abuse is still a major risk factor for violent offending, particularly in cases of domestic violence, because of causal relationship between "socially accepted" alcohol intoxication and aggressive behavior (Lysova & Hines 2008, Bye 2007, Chalub & Telles 2006).

COMORBIDITY IN FORENSIC PRACTICE

The role of psychoactive substances in violent behavior

In the majority of criminal offences such as attempted murder and homicide, which are causally related to polysubstance abuse, the psychiatric evaluation and assessment often results in establishing multiple psychiatric diagnoses in offenders with statistically significant prevalence of antisocial personality disorder. The most frequent comorbid psychiatric diagnoses classified according to ICD-10 (2004) and DSM-IV-TR (2000) international diagnostic criteria are belonging to a broad range of personality disorders (antisocial, borderline, paranoid, schizoid, schizo-affective, passive-dependant, dissocial), affective disorders (bipolar, depressive, anxiety, PTSD), Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), paranoid psychosis and schizophrenia (Fortuna 2009, Rueve & Welton 2008, Marshall & Farell 2007, Kertesz et al. 2006). Furthermore, a large group of epileptic disorders (Van Elst et al. 2000) and mental retardation is of no less importance in comorbidity associated with various psychiatric disorders and substance abuse, which all play an important role in establishing a diagnosis of diminished mental capacity or insanity at the time of the offence in the course of the evaluation of mental capacity in violent offenders (Kovač et al. 2008). Finally, a rare condition such as psychosis due to structural brain abnormalities in violent offenders could be found in the course of clinical assessment in forensic psychiatry (Radeljak et al.

2009, Webber 2008). However, it should be emphasized that substance abuse related disorders or dependence are rarely isolated psychiatric disorders, rather they are incorporated within a broad spectrum of unrecognized or sometimes misdiagnosed psychiatric disorders or true mental illnesses (Fortuna 2009, Junginger et al. 2006). Various studies in the field of criminology and criminal behavior have been shown a close causal relationship between psychiatric disorders, substance abuse and criminal behavior. Among large group of criminal offenders with positive history of severe drug and alcohol abuse, either before the criminal offence or at the time of the offence, the antisocial personality disorder is the most common psychiatric disorder (Weber 2008, Rueve & Welton 2008, Mueser et al. 2006). Furthermore, the relationship between antisocial personality disorder, history of drug and alcohol abuse and previous criminal offences are strong predictive factors for violence risk assessment (HCR-20) among group of violent offenders (Webster et al. 1997). In the extensive study presented by Williams and Cohen in 2000, the detailed causal relationship between multiple psychiatric disorders, substance abuse and extreme violent behavior in criminal offenders has been shown (Williams & Cohen 2000). The comprehensive data from extensive studies conducted by American National Institutes for Drug Abuse revealed a close relationship between posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and substance abuse. Studies have confirmed that 30-60% of individuals diagnosed with substance abuse disorder or dependence are also suffering from PTSD as associated comorbid diagnosis (NIDA; NIAAA; SAMSHA; CASA 2001-2007). The basic neuroscientific and psychopharmacological approach to the forensic case, which is closely associated with substance abuse, should be observed as a direct consequence of acute or chronic toxic effect of drugs and/or alcohol on brain function which consequently leads to violent behavior and criminal offence (Davies 2009, Fortuna 2009, Rueve & Welton 2008). A clear example of “cause and effect” in forensic psychiatry is metamphetamine toxicity, which is often clinically presented as acute paranoid psychosis with auditory and visual hallucinations and could lead to homicide offence as a direct consequence of psychotic symptoms (Bender 2007, Reid et al. 2007). The extensive studies of

Williams, Cohen (2000) and Snowden (2001) are clearly showing a strong causal relationship in regard to short time or long time drug abuse (specifically stimulant and hallucinogenic drugs), associated with psychiatric comorbidity and various stress triggers as common contributing factors in forensic case with elements of violent crime. The annual report, issued by European Monitoring Center for Drug Abuse (EMCDDA) in 2008, emphasizes the underestimated and usually unrecognized problem of psychiatric comorbidity related to drug abuse (EMCDDA 2008). Data issued in EMCDDA annual report are showing the prevalence of 20-50% of substance abuse disorder among psychiatric patients within the European Union. The most frequent form of substance abuse among this group of patients appears to be alcohol, followed by sedatives (benzodiazepines), cannabis, stimulants (amphetamine, methamphetamine, cocaine) and opiates (heroin, methadone). Recent review comprising 22 world studies on psychiatric comorbidity related to drug abuse in adolescents within EU showed prevalence of 60% in established comorbid psychiatric diagnosis according to diagnostic criteria in young abusers or addicts (EMCDDA, 2008). Finally, the new trends are clearly showing that forensic psychiatry of the 21st century should follow the new scientific developments, particularly in the field of modern neuroscience, psychopharmacology and criminology, as it relates to complex phenomenon of crime and violence associated with alcohol and drugs, more than traditional psychiatry of substance abuse (Davies 2009, Aharoni et al. 2008, Fountoulakis et al. 2008, O’Shaughnessy & Andrade 2008, Mossman et al. 2007, Bufkin & Luttrell 2005, Layde 2004, Snowden 2001).

The relationship between substance abuse, psychiatric disorder and violence

Despite the general public opinion on close relationship between psychiatric disorders and violence, early scientific data are showing that majority of psychiatric patients are not violent and mental illness tends to be a moderate risk factor for violent behavior (Monahan & Arnold 1996). In the study of Bladn and Orn high domestic violence rate was observed in individuals diagnosed with comorbid psychiatric diagnoses, mainly antisocial personality disorder, alcoholism and depression, as well as, in patients with frequent suicide attempts (Bladn & Orn 1986). The prevalence of psychiatric

morbidity in survey of domestic violence offences, conducted at the Department of Forensic Psychiatry in Croatian Psychiatric hospital “Vrapče” showed that majority of offenders were diagnosed with schizophrenia, alcoholism and major affective disorder (Mužinić et al. 2008). The American extensive studies (Compton et al. 2007, Teplin et al. 2005) which reviewed the cases of 1272 convicted offenders in American prisons explains close triangular relationship between three major elements that are presented in the majority of forensic cases; substance abuse, psychiatric disorder and violent behavior. Triangular relationship between elements in the forensic case was found in more than 80% of violent offenders. By comparing epidemiological data with healthy prison population in the same study, Teplin et al. found that among 1272 prisoners with a history of substance abuse 75% (954) of them committed violent crimes solely due to a drug and alcohol abuse and without clear history of mental illness. The rest of the offenders (25%) were having positive psychiatric history (psychotic disorders, schizophrenia, bipolar illness) and were under influence of drugs and/or alcohol at the time of the offence. Comparing the prison population with psychiatric comorbidity (psychiatric disorder and substance abuse) to the general population in the psychiatric facilities, the authors found that substance abuse were twice as likely present among prison population. The explanation lies in the fact that individuals with psychiatric disorders in the general population are receiving better mental health care. Similar data were brought by Vaughn et al. pointing to triangular causal relationship between substance abuse, psychiatric condition and violence among youth population in juvenile detention centers across the USA (Vaughn et al. 2008). The Australian survey (DUCO survey), published by Australian Institute of Criminology and conducted on 2861 prisoners during the period of 25 years (1975 - 2000) is emphasizing a causal and time - related relationship between changing the policies of the mental health care system in the 1980s, (cutting the public mental health services and general psychiatric hospitals) with sudden increase in violent criminal offences committed by psychiatric patients and related to comorbid substance abuse (AIC 2006). With a vast number of psychiatric patients who were completely excluded from

mental health system and treatment within the system, the number of violent crimes committed by mental patients treated in the outpatient services has linearly growing with time spent outside the inpatient mental health service and with an increase in substance abuse especially among schizophrenic patients (Wallace et al. 2004). American federal crime statistics, published as annual reports by Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) and US Department of Justice (USDOJ) are showing high prevalence of alcohol and metamphetamine related violent crimes. In 40% of convicted offenders, the combination of acute alcohol and metamphetamine intoxication at the time of crime, mainly in homicide offences, was significant (DEA 2008, USDOJ 2008, 2007). On the other hand, a Swedish survey conducted in the capital town of Stockholm (1988-2000) showed that 10% of all violent crimes committed in Stockholm are related to substance abuse (Fazel & Grann 2006, Grann & Fazel 2004). The high prevalence of comorbidity, mainly between schizophrenia and alcohol abuse is very well known. One third of all schizophrenic patients are diagnosed with alcohol dependence, and half of schizophrenic patients are addicted to various psychoactive substances (Drake & Mueser 2002). In general, the long time prognosis in alcohol and drug dependant schizophrenic patients is far worse than in those with no history of substance abuse. Moreover, these patients are having more psychotic relapses, prolonged hospitalizations, more pharmacologic treatments and poor social functioning. The survey on domestic homicide offenders conducted in Croatia in period between years 2000 and 2007, showed that more than half of all domestic homicides (64.3%) are closely related to alcohol abuse (Kovačević et al. 2008).

Psychiatric comorbidity and substance abuse

The most common psychiatric comorbidity related to substance abuse belong to large group of personality disorders, affective and psychotic disorders (Davis 2009, Fortuna 2009, Fountoulakis et al. 2008) according to DSM-IV-TR (2000):

- Antisocial personality disorder characterized by aggressiveness, low tolerance to frustration, problems with authorities (previous involvement in felony and crime), lack of empathy, remorse and insight toward offence;

- Borderline personality disorder characterized by impulsivity, unpredictable behavior, emotional instability, manipulative behavior (false multiple attempts of suicide) lack of insight, resulting in high risk behavior with possible harmful consequences;
- Dissocial personality disorder, previously known as *multiple personality disorder*;
- Bipolar affective disorder (manic-depressive);
- Adult ADHD (*Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder*). Undiagnosed individuals with ADHD are having chaotic life style with disorganization on multiple levels and high impulsivity. ADHD is often associated with anxiety, depression, bipolar disorder and substance abuse/dependence;
- Posttraumatic Stress Disorder; PTSD;
- Depression;
- Paranoid psychosis;
- Schizophrenia;
- Mental retardation;
- Epilepsy;

Violence risk assessment in individuals with psychiatric comorbidity

The forensic psychiatrist will be particularly involved in cases where there is a combination of a psychiatric disorder, substance abuse and violence (Mossman et al. 2007, Quanbeck 2006). The “typical” forensic case could now be described as a violent offender with a personality disorder that predated the development of a mental illness, and further complicated by polysubstance abuse. The assessment of violence risk in these cases must consider the triangular relationship between the mental illness, violence and substance abuse (Snowden 2001, Webster 1997).

Factors in assessment of risk for dual diagnosis (comorbidity) in violent offenders

- -Nature and severity of the offence
- -Past history of offending

Substance abuse

- Substance of choice – alcohol, drugs
- Nature and extent of harmful substance abuse and dependence
- Treatment compliance
- Early identification of relapse

Mental illness

- Nature of the illness, treatment compliance, insight, early identification of relapse of illness

Relationship of violence to

- Substance abuse, withdrawal or dependence
- Mental illness and alcohol/drug abuse
- Relationship between substance abuse, comorbidity and violence
- Mental illness and its relationship toward substance abuse

TREATMENT IN FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY

In general, comorbidity is a poor predictive factor in the course of treatment in the secure psychiatric units (forensic psychiatry treatment services) and in the management of violent offenders. Individuals with psychiatric comorbidity or dual diagnosis, which are undergoing treatment in the forensic psychiatry services, requires special, multilevel approach in pharmacotherapy, psychotherapy and occupational therapy in order to obtain optimal results in medical treatment, rehabilitation and future social functioning (Mossman et al. 2007, Quanbeck 2006). Establishing the valid psychiatric diagnosis and making rational, informed decisions in regard to violent offenders, early in the course of assessment and later in the course of treatment, should be of fundamental value in modern forensic psychiatry. Furthermore, a careful planning of treatment, as well as development of different programs of treatment on individual basis, associated with accurate violence risk assessment before and after treatment for each individual (offender) is of crucial importance in the forensic psychiatry service. Moreover, by recognizing co-occurrence of more than one psychiatric diagnosis or comorbidity is of fundamental value for forensic psychiatrist in the course of psychiatric evaluation of violent offenders, particularly in the clinical assessment of mental state competence in the offender at the time of the offence and in violence risk assessment. Finally, by making the right decision, based on the most accurate medical, scientific and legal data collected in the course of the clinical assessment, forensic psychiatrists should be able to decide whether an individual could be harmful to his own physical, mental and

social well-being or eventually pose a threat to the community and, if so, whether an individual should be placed in the secure psychiatric unit in order to prevent recidivism.

CONCLUSION

Numerous studies on various different factors that are contributing to criminal behavior showed a close causal relationship between mental disorders, substance abuse and criminal offence (Fortuna, 2009, Davies, 2009, Curran et al., 2008, Klötz et al., 2007, Hatters-Friedman et al., 2005, Snowden, 2001.; McKenna and Jasper, 1999, Drake et al., 1998). The forensic psychiatrist of the 21st century would be particularly involved in complex forensic cases where there is a presence of combination of more than one factor in triangular relationship that includes various psychiatric disorders (comorbidity), substance abuse disorder and criminal offence (Snowden, 2001). Such cases usually pose a question on causal relationship between psychiatric disorder, substance abuse and criminal offence in terms of cause and effect; whether an acute intoxication with alcohol or drug was cause of the offence or a long term effect of harmful substance abuse complicated with undiagnosed mental disorder which was all contributed to criminal offence. Comorbidity plays an important and complex role in clinical assessment of mental state competence (diminished mental capacity, temporary insanity and insanity) in the offenders at the time of the offence in the majority of forensic cases determining all possible options in future treatment of violent offenders. The assessment of risk in these cases must consider all the facts in triangular relationship between the mental disorder, violence and substance abuse. In some forensic cases, a period of assessment in secure forensic treatment units will be necessary in order to improve the clinical risk assessment and make proper decision on future treatment, based on individual approach to each particular case, in order to prevent recidivism in violent offenders (Mossman et al., 2007, Quanbeck, 2006).

REFERENCES

1. Aharoni E, Funk C, Sinnott-Armstrong W, Gazzaniga, M. Can neurological evidence help court assess criminal responsibility? *Lessons from Law and Neuroscience*. *Ann NY Acad Sci*. 2008; 1124:145-160.

2. Australian Institute of Criminology. *DUCO survey*. 2006.
3. Bender E. *Crystal Meth Use Linked to Arrests, Violent Behavior*. *Psychiatr News*. 2007; 42(14):12.
4. Bennett T, Holloway K. *Trends in Drug Use and Crime: Results of the NEW-ADAM Programme*. Home Office Research Study. London: Home Office, 2004.
5. Bladn R and Orn H. *Family violence and psychiatric disorder*. *Can J Psychiatry* 1986; 32:129-37.
6. Boles SM, Miotto K. *Substance abuse and violence: A review of the literature* *Aggression and Violent Behavior*. 2003; 8(2):155-174.
7. Bufkin JL, Luttrell VR. *Neuroimaging studies of aggressive and violent behavior: current findings and implications for criminology and criminal justice*. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. 2005; 2:176-91.
8. Bye EK. *Alcohol and Homicide in Eastern Europe: A Time Series Analysis of Six Countries*. *Homicide Studies*. 2008; 12(1):7-27.
9. Bye EK. *Alcohol and violence: use of possible confounders in a time-series analysis*. *Addiction*. 2007; 3(102):369-376.
10. Carcach C, Conroy R. *Alcohol and Homicide. A routine activity analysis*. In P. Williams (ed.). *Alcohol, young persons and violence*. 2001:165-1620.
11. Chalub M, Telles LEB. *Alcohol, drugs and crime*. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr*. 2006; 28 (Supl II):S69-73.
12. Compton WM, Thomas YF, Stinson FS, Grant BF. *Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV drug abuse and dependence in the United States: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions*. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2007; 64(5):566-76.
13. Curran GM, Sullivan G, Williams K, Han X, Allee E, Kotrla, KJ. *The association of psychiatric comorbidity and use of the emergency department among persons with substance use disorders: an observational cohort study*. *BMC Emergency Medicine*. 2008; 8:17.
14. Davies RD. *Adolescent Substance Abuse: Psychiatric Comorbidity and High-Risk Behaviors* *Am J Psychiatry*. 2009; 166:117.
15. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press, Inc. 2000.
16. Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA). 2008; www.dea.gov
17. Drake, RC and Mueser, KT. *Co-occurring alcohol use disorder and schizophrenia*. *Alcohol research and Health*. 2002; 26: 99-102.
18. European Monitoring Center for Drug and Drug Addiction, EMCDDA: *The state of the drug problem in Europe - Annual Report*, 2008; www.emcdda.eu.int

19. Fazel, S, Grann M. *The population impact on severe mental illness on violent crime. Am J Psychiatry.* 2006; 163:1397-1403.
20. Flanagan RJ, Fisher DS. *Volatile substance abuse and crime: data from U.K. press cuttings 1996-2007. Med Sci Law.* 2008; 48(4):295-306.
21. Fortuna LR. *Adolescent Substance Abuse: Psychiatric Comorbidity and High Risk Behaviors. Psychiatr Serv.* 2009; 60:128.
22. Fountoulakis KN, Leucht S, Kaprinis GS. *Personality disorders and violence. Curr Opin Psychiatry.* 2008; 21(1):84-92.
23. Grann M, Fazel S. *Substance misuse and violent crime: Swedish population study. BMJ.* 2004; 328:1233-1234.
24. *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Health Related Problems (ICD-10) Vol. 2: Instruction Manual, 2nd ed., 10th Revision, eds. WHO, 2004.*
25. Kertesz SG, Madan A, Wallace D, Schumacher JE, Milby JB. *Substance abuse treatment and psychiatric comorbidity: do benefits spill over? Analysis of data from a prospective trial among cocaine-dependent homeless persons. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy.* 2006; 1:27.
26. Kharasch et al. *Methadone metabolism and clearance are induced by nelfinavir despite inhibition of cytochrome P4503A (CYP3A) activity. Drug and Alcohol Dependence.* 2009; doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep
27. Klötz F, Petersson A, Isacson D, Thiblin I. *Violent crime and substance abuse: A medico-legal comparison between deceased users of anabolic androgenic steroids and abusers of illicit drugs. Forensic Science International.* 2007; 173 (1):57-63.
28. Kovač M., Žarković Palijan, T., Kovačević, D., Mustapić J. *Neubrojivi mentalno retardirani počinitelji kaznenog djela. Polic.sigur. (Zagreb), 2008. god.17. br.1-2 ; 90-100.*
29. Kovačević D, Žarković Palijan T, Radeljak S, Kovač M, Ljubin Golub T. *Domestic homicide cases related to schizophrenic offenders Coll Antropol.* 2008; 32(2):115-122.
30. Marshall E, Farrell M. *Substance use and psychiatric comorbidity. Medicine.* 2007; 35(4):246-249.
31. Layde JB. *Recent trends in forensic psychiatry training. Current Opinion in Psychiatry.* 2004;17(5):411-415.
32. Lysova AV Hines DA. *Binge drinking and violence against intimate partners in Russia. Aggressive Behavior.* 2008; 34(4):416-427.
33. McCabe SE, Cranford JA, Morales M, Young A. *Simultaneous and concurrent polydrug use of alcohol and prescription drugs: Prevalence, correlates, and consequences. Journal of Studies on Alcohol.* 2006; 67(4):529-537.
34. Monahan J and Arnold J. *Violence by people with mental illness: a consensus statement by advocates and researcher. Psychiatr Rehab J.* 1996; 19:67-70.
35. Mossman D, Noffsinger SG, Ash P, Frierson RL, Gerbasi J, Hackett M, Lewis CF, Pinals DA, Scott CL, Sieg KG, Wall BW, Zonana HV. *AAPL Practice Guideline for the Forensic Psychiatric Evaluation of Competence to Stand Trial. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law.* 2007; 35(4):S3-S72.
36. Mueser KT, Crocker AG, Frisman LB, Drake RE, Covell NH, Essock, SM. *Conduct Disorder and Antisocial Personality Disorder in Persons With Severe Psychiatric and Substance Use Disorders. Schizophrenia Bulletin.* 2006; 32(4):626-636.
37. Mužinić L, Jukić V, Herceg M, Madančić Ž, Križaj A. *Psihijatrijski bolesnik i nasilje u obitelji. Soc psihijatrija,* 2008; 36: 23-28.
38. *National Center on Addiction and Substance Abuse at Columbia University (CASA), 2009; www.casacolumbia.org*
39. *National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), 2009; www.nida.nih.gov*
40. *National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAA), 2009; www.niaaa.nih.gov*
41. O'Shaughnessy and Andrade. *Forensic Psychiatry and Violent Adolescents. Brief Treat Crisis Interven.* 2008; 8:27-42.
42. Palijan Žarković T, Kovačević D, Radeljak, S Kovač M, Mustapić, J. *Forensic aspects of alcohol abuse and homicide. 2009; Coll Antropol (Ahead in print).*
43. Quanbeck, C. *Forensic Psychiatric Aspects of Inpatient Violence. Psychiatric Clinics of North America;* 2006; (29)3:743-760
44. Radeljak S, Žarković Palijan T, Kovač M, Kovačević D. *Structural brain abnormalities in homicidal patient: Forensic case report. 2009; Eur Psych 24, Supp 1, S838.*
45. Reid LW, Elifson KW, Sterk CE. *"Hug drug or thug drug? Ecstasy use and aggressive behavior". Violence Vict.* 2007; 22(1):104-19.
46. Rueve ME, Welton RS. *Violence and Mental Illness.* 2008; www.psychiatrymmc.com
47. Snowden, P. *Substance misuse and violence: the scope and limitations of forensic psychiatry's role. Adv Psych Treat* 2001; 7:189-197.
48. Stretesky PB. *National Case-Control Study of Homicide Offending and Methamphetamine Use Journal of Interpersonal Violence.* 2008; doi:10.1177/0886260508325011
49. *Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), 2009; www.samsha.gov*
50. Teplin LA, Abram KM McClelland GM, Washburn JJ, Pikus AK. *Detecting Mental Disorder in Juvenile Detainees: Who Receives Services. American Journal of Public Health.* 2005; 95(10):1773-1780.

51. *The state of the drug problem in Europe. Annual Report by EMCDDA.* www.emcdda.eu.int
52. *UN Human Development Report 2007.-2008;* www.undp.org
53. *US Department of Justice. Bureau of Justice Statistics. National Crime Victimization Survey.* 2008; www.usdoj.gov
54. Van Elst LT, Woermann FG, Lemieux L, Thompson PJ, Trimble MR. *Affective aggression in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a quantitative MRI study of the amygdala.* *Brain.* 2000; 123:234-43.
55. Vaughn MG, Wallace, JM, Davis LE, Fernandes GT, Howard MO. *Variations in Mental Health Problems, Substance Use, and Delinquency Between African American and Caucasian Juvenile Offenders: Implications for Reentry Services.* *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* 2008; 52:311-329.
56. Verheyden SL, Henry JA, Curran HV. *"Acute, sub-acute and long-term subjective consequences of 'ecstasy' (MDMA) consumption in 430 regular users".* *Hum Psychopharmacol.* 2003; 18(7):507-517.
57. Weber S, Habel U, Amunts K, Schneider F. *Structural Brain Abnormalities in Psychopats - a Review.* *Behav Sci Law.* 2008; 26: 7-28.
58. Webster, CD, Douglas, KS, Eaves, D, Hart, SD. *HCR-20: Assessing Risk for Violence Version 2.* Vancouver: Mental Health Law and Policy Institute, Simon Fraser University, 1997.
59. White MD, Goldkamp JS, Campbell, SP. *Co-Occurring Mental Illness and Substance Abuse in the Criminal Justice System. Some Implications for Local Jurisdictions.* *The Prison Journal.* 2006; 86(3):301-326.
60. Williams R, Cohen J. *Substance use and misuse in psychiatric wards. A model task for clinical governance?* *Psychiatric Bulletin.* 2000; 24:43-46.
61. Zlotnick C, Clarke JG, Friedmann PD, Roberts MB, Sacks S, Melnick G. *Gender Differences in Comorbid Disorders among Offenders in Prison Substance Abuse Treatment Programs.* *Behav Sci Law.* 2008; 26(4):403-412.
62. *Iz forenzičke psihijatrije; Zbornik radova; ur. Žarković Palijan T, Kovačević D, Zagreb Ceres, Matica Hrvatska Kutina, 2001.*

Correspondence:

Tija Žarković Palijan, MD, PhD

Neuropsychiatric hospital „Dr. Ivan Barbot“

Jelengradska 1, 44 317 Popovača, Croatia

E-mail: tija.zarkovic-palijan@npbp.hr tija.zarkovic-palijan@sk.t-com.hr